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Introduction 
As employers of any size are aware, ensuring that your company and its employees have access to 
high-quality, high-value, transparent, and predictable pharmaceutical benefits is of utmost importance. 
The use of Pharmacy Benefits Managers (PBMs) is the most common strategy used by employers to 
procure and deliver pharmacy benefits to its employees. Unfortunately, for too long employers have 
managed their PBM expense using the same techniques that focused primarily on MAC pricing, rebate 
pass-through, drug access programs, passing costs onto employees, and controlling access to drugs. 

The pharmacy supply chain is complex and opaque. Employers rely on multiple stakeholders 
to provide truthful and accurate information that will help them manage costs and ensure that 
their employees are ultimately moving towards better health outcomes. Employers are subjected 
to asymmetric market information when contracting for the drugs that their employees need 
to live a healthier life. PBMs are in the middle of a spider-web of transactions that involve the 
drug manufacturer, brokers, distributors, and retailers-- all of whom are adding to the cost of the 
prescription. 

In an effort to help employers gain better control over their relationship with PBMs, we have crafted 
this short guide to help employers consider alternative ways that PBM relationships could be analyzed. 
This includes ensuring that any consultant or insurance broker is truly aligned with the needs of the 
employer, and requiring the PBM to deliver pharmacy benefits in a truly transparent manner.  It also 
requires a new way of assessing the total impact of a PBM arrangement. The price of each drug 
purchased is only a part of the equation. The true cost to the employer can be impacted by the nature 
of the financial relationship the PBM has with the manufacturer, which drugs they choose to include 
in their formulary, as well as their ability to manage the clinical effectiveness of the drugs. Taking all of 
those elements into consideration in a comprehensive manner and not just looking at discounts will 
provide a much better approach to comparing the value of any PBM to your organization. 

How To Use This Guide
This document can be used to help employers think about upcoming PBM projects including RFPs, 
selection of a consultant to help with PBM contracting or RFPs, and mid-contract term review of what 
a current PBM is providing the employer. At the end of this guide, we provide sample questions that 
could be added to RFIs or RFPs to elicit information that will support finding a PBM partner that is 
most aligned with the interests of your organization. This list of questions should not be considered 
a comprehensive list of all questions an RFP should include.  Rather, these are additional questions 
that should be included to elicit differences between PBMs that may be less visible in traditional RFP 
questionnaires.

Employers Guide to Pharmacy Benefits
Tips for Ensuring that Your Company Is Getting a Fair Deal
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Part 1.  WORKING WITH YOUR CONSULTANT or BROKER
It is important that employers understand exactly the motives, compensation and relationships that 
their brokers hold. When contracting with a consultant/broker it is important that the statement of 
work (SOW) clarifies the expectations of the employer. This includes requesting that the consultant 
reveal any and all sources of revenue that they receive from PBMs or other stakeholders in the 
pharmaceutical industry. The following list can be used to create additional provisions to be included 
in the SOW to help ensure that the priorities and needs of the employer are not in conflict with the 
business relationships of the consultant. 

1. Ask the consultant which PBMs have been included in their RFPs in the last 24 months.
2. Require the consultant to disclose all current sources of revenue from PBMs. Do they accept 

Pharmacy Management Funds (PMFs)? 
3. Require the consultant to disclose any coalitions which may provide compensation or other 

conflict of interest in their recommendations.
4. Inform the consultant of your organization’s goals and priorities and require that all of their 

recommendations reflect alignment with them. Ensure that these priorities are considered 
in the weighting that is applied to each section of your RFP. Examples include any goals 
your organization has regarding specific financial forecasts, clinical management, patient 
engagement, transparency for patients, innovation, etc.  

5. Require the consultant to include a financial projection of the total cost savings in their analysis, 
rather than contracted pricing. 

6. Require the consultant to identify how the PBMs will impact overall total cost of drugs (e.g. are 
they impacting utilization, mitigating AWP inflation, mitigating waste, etc.)

7. Require that the RFP include significant focus on the population health management the PBM 
will provide and not just the contracted pricing for drugs.

8. Require that any projection of pricing will also include an evaluation of the drug mix that each 
vendor is likely to drive.

9. Require that all evaluation elements should be included in the comprehensive evaluation and 
not broken out between pricing and other features. 

10. Require the consultant to provide a breakdown of the various PBMs they have recommended for 
their clients, percentage of business with each PBM, and a breakdown of how many clients in the 
last 2 years remained with the incumbent or changed PBMs.

11. Require a plan for a total cost analysis upon completion of the year analyzed with the awarded 
PBMs request for proposal.

12. Require the consultant to annually reconcile the projected total cost to the projected financial 
outcomes at the beginning of each year. 

Part 2. GUIDING PRINCIPLES FOR EFFECTIVE PBM RELATIONSHIPS
The following guiding principles serve as a way for employers to consider a new and more effective 
way to partner with PBMs. The following list of principles outlines what employers “should” be 
considering when looking at PBMs. By incorporating these guiding principles into your strategy 
and vendor management approach, employers will be able to better align the actions of the 
pharmaceutical supply chain with the interests of the company, its employees, and shareholders. 
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Business Model & Transparency
Employers should consider whether the business model of the PBM is aligned with your company’s 
objectives. In other words, would any part of their revenue stream be counter to your corporate 
objectives. Examples would be choosing drugs for a formulary that may be higher cost than other drugs, 
driving utilization towards the PBM’s own pharmacy assets vs. creating competition and driving down 
lowest net cost as a result, having incentive to manipulate definitions or reconciliation terms and trap 
margin from the supply chain, or promoting other programs that would increase their revenue stream 
without concurrently reducing your overall total cost. 

Pricing 
Employers should analyze whether the pricing offered is fully transparent and is presented in such a way 
that the employer can clearly and fairly compare the pricing of one PBM to another. Employers should 
seek to have all questions answered with how a drug is priced at point of sale, what pricing components 
it will be bucketed under and how it will be guaranteed/reconciled. Examples include how drugs 
like Limited Distribution Drugs and certain specialty medications are priced and guaranteed, what is 
included/excluded from the component guarantees, etc.

Clinical Engagement
Employers should evaluate how the PBM is engaging with patients to ensure that the drugs they have 
been prescribed are necessary and will be effective. Are they appropriate for the patient, is there a 
clear clinical pathway for the drug including desired outcomes and alternative therapies if those are not 
achieved? The evaluation should assess how they measure and report clinical engagement.

Savings Guarantees and ROI
Employers should ensure that any savings guarantees consider the impact the PBM has on the drug 
choices through clinical engagement. Clearly outline how the savings guarantees are calculated and 
ensure that they do not offset any of the contractual pricing guarantees.

Member Experience
Employers should identify how the PBM will engage with the member and assist them in finding the 
lowest cost, most effective drug for themselves and the plan, provide meaningful clinical guidance as 
well as deliver an overall high level of member satisfaction.

Specialty Rx 
Employers should include questions which will reveal whether the PBM influences specialty drug 
selections that are in line with the employer’s objectives. Seek to understand how the PBM can lower not 
only the cost of the pill but also the net cost to the patient, including any other comorbidities. 

Product & Program Innovation
Employers should seek to identify PBMs which are going to evolve with the next evolution of employer 
needs, including how they are actively solving for known challenges within the PBM and healthcare 
ecosystem.
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Client Management
Employers should evaluate whether the PBM will be transparent and comprehensive in reporting 
financial and clinical outcomes and insights on a regular and real time basis and will provide insights 
that will support mitigation of overall health care trend and improvement of health outcomes

Formulary
Employers should evaluate whether the formulary offered by the PBM is first derived based on 
clinical efficacy, i.e. is it the right therapy for the right patient. After clinical efficacy, employers should 
evaluate how the PBM drives towards the lowest net cost to both the employer and member in each 
drug category. Employers should evaluate the level of flexibility the PBM will allow for formulary 
decisions.

Contract & Requirements
Employers should ensure that the contract provides straight forward definitions, financial proposals 
and guarantee/reconciliation language. The contract should provide flexibility for carve-out solutions 
including choice of pharmacy, management of formulary and other program elements as desired by 
the plan sponsor 

Implementation
Employers should ensure a new PBM will provide substantial support managing the transition from 
an existing PBM, will be responsive to patient needs, well communicated in a timely manner, and 
seamless for the employer’s benefits team.

Benefits & Clinical Program Flexibility 
Employers should ensure that the PBM will give them complete flexibility to create a benefit plan that 
meets their objectives and also provides flexibility to incorporate additional programs that may be 
outside the PBM.

Recommended Questions for Employer PBM RFPs

Business Model Alignment & Transparency
1. How does your organization drive towards lowest net cost of care for overall pharmacy plus 

medical/healthcare spend? How do you promote competition within the market vs. pushing 
towards exclusivity?

2. Disclose all sources of revenue for your overall book of business.
3. Which of these sources will you rely on for profitability for this contract?
4. Disclose any financial arrangements you may have with the consultant/broker managing/

evaluating the RFP.
5. What is your organization doing to reduce the Gross to Net gap in brand name medications? 

a. Do you pass through 100% of client-derived manufacturer value?
b. How do you drive towards the lowest net cost?
c. Do you contract for fees and administrative payments from manufacturers? Are those 

passed through to clients?
6. How does your organization contract for manufacturer derived revenue? Do you use rebate 

aggregators, GPO’s, contract directly or use an alternative approach? If you use a GPO, describe 
how your GPO derives its revenues. 
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7. Do you include any dollars from Copay Assistance Programs in the calculation and/or reconciliation 
of rebates?

8. Does your PBM own, or is your PBM affiliated with, the entity from which you are receiving 
manufacturer-derived revenue?

Pricing
1. Do you offer a fully-transparent/pass-through pricing model? If yes, how does your pass-through 

pricing model align with client and member goals?
a. How do you define “pass through”? Is this pass through of contracted pharmacy network 

rates, or full pass through of rebates, or both? If pass through of Pharmacy Network rates, 
how can you provide auditability?

b. Confirm that you have no traditional pricing which incorporates spreading of rebates and/or 
pharmacy pricing. 

2. Do you contractually guarantee one MAC list at the client level to meet the financial guarantees, or 
do you manage multiple MAC lists?

3. Can you guarantee that this contract will include pricing that is at least as good as any other 
contract offered to employers within your book of business? Describe how you will meet this 
requirement. 

4. Confirm that any given claim will be adjudicated at the best unit price that your PBM has 
negotiated with the supply chain. Describe how you will demonstrate this to the client.

5. Will you allow audits of your 835 file which includes all financial fields?
6. How do you ensure that any plan strategies recommended do not result in increased overall plan 

cost?

Clinical Engagement 
1. Describe how you assess whether a drug will be effective for the patient.
2. In what situations do you interact with the patient and their doctor to influence drug choice? Is that 

at point of prescribing or retrospective?
3. How do you engage patients when you determine that a patient is not on the most appropriate 

drug for their clinical situation?
4. How do you coordinate patients with health conditions that cross both medical and pharmacy?
5. How do you assess when to dispense, when to stop and when to switch a drug? 

Savings Guarantees and ROI
1. How do you calculate your savings methodology for Clinical Engagement? Are these savings 

guaranteed?
2. Will you provide regular reporting on engagement and outcomes to validate your clinical 

engagement and savings guarantees?
3. Do you guarantee the differentiators in your PBM model? If so, is that a dollar-for-dollar guarantee 

or a percentage of the quoted admin fee?
4. Provide any contract caveats or limitations for savings guarantees.
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Member Experience
1. How do you define Member Engagement?
2. How do you drive towards proactive Member Engagement?
3. Do your engagement opportunities specifically include lower cost or therapeutic alternatives? 

What percent are identified? What percent switch? How do you encourage members to the 
lowest cost alternative based on drug or pharmacy?

4. Do your programs include retail/mail cost savings suggestions that are agnostic to a specific 
retail chain and/or mail order facility?

5. Are health/clinical opportunities identified for the member in addition to Cost Savings 
opportunities?

6. Do you measure Member satisfaction and if so, how? 
7. Will you guarantee member satisfaction service level agreements?

Specialty Rx 
1. Do you support patient assistance or copay maximizer solutions? If so, please describe the 

program and its cost. Will you guarantee any performance around this program?
a. What are the member requirements for these programs? 
b. Are members required to use a specific pharmacy? (please list pharmacies)
c. Will you allow this solution to be carved out to another vendor as part of your proposal?

2. How does your specialty management or formulary drive towards lowest net cost? 
3. Do you encourage Biosimilars? If so, how? Please provide examples.
4. How do you manage site of care steerage for specialty medications?
5. How does your clinical engine incorporate data sources beyond just Rx to create a more 

holistic picture of the patient in order to manage their overall health and healthcare costs more 
effectively?

6. Why is your specialty management approach better than a potential carve-out specialty 
management solution?

Product & Program Innovation
1. Looking ahead at your product roadmap, what 2-3 significant features/products/ programs 

would you highlight that will become available and are likely to have a significant positive 
impact on patient experience or costs?

2. What are some of the key areas of the current healthcare ecosystem that your organization is 
trying to solve for over the next 2-5 years?

3. Provide two examples of innovation that you have implemented to improve the pharmacy 
program for your jumbo clients.

Client Management
1. What level of reporting and data insights do you provide your clients? Are these self-serve or 

ad hoc reports?
2. Please provide sample reporting that clients receive and the cadence for each report. Please 

confirm for each report that this format will be followed and provided. 
3. Do you measure client satisfaction? If so, how?
4. Will you provide service level agreements around client satisfaction?
5. Describe how your client management model will best align and meet the goals of the client?
6. Can and will you provide real-time reporting of adjudicated claims?
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Formulary
1. Describe your formulary management (P&T) process along with the clinical and financial 

evaluation of adding medications to formulary?
a. If a generic medication is available at the same or lower net cost, do you remove the 

brand from formulary?
b. If yes, provide 3-5 recent examples of implementing this strategy.
c. Is your P&T committee open for the Employer or Pharmacy Consultant to view?

2. Describe the available options within benefits setup, formulary, and clinical programs that give 
plan sponsors flexibility.

3. Is there a cost for customization with the formulary or utilization management criteria? If so, 
how do you collaborate with the client to analyze and make a fully informed decision around 
customization?

4. Will you allow for independent oversight/control of the formulary?

Contract & Requirements
1. Confirm that your contract allows the client to carve out the following:

a. Clinical management, i.e. Utilization Management or Rx Navigation Services
b. Specialty drugs management, patient management and/or drug fulfillment
c. Formulary management 
d. Specialty copay maximizer programs
e. Prior Authorization and Step Therapy

2. How would contract provisions change if a customer intends to actively manage which 
medications flow through Rx benefit versus medical plan.

Implementation
1. Do you measure implementation satisfaction? If so, how? Will you guarantee an SLA around 

implementation satisfaction?
2. Describe how you would enhance the employee experience for a smooth transition to your PBM.
3. How does your implementation process make it an easy transition for the plan sponsor and 

benefit team?

Benefits & Clinical Program Flexibility 
1. Do you have any limitations on the benefit structure or clinical programs which can be added to 

the pharmacy benefit?
2. Describe your ability to integrate with third-party solutions. Identify any requirements or 

limitations.
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